# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 88,844

ALACHUA COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida; and the CITY OF GAINESVILLE, an incorporated municipality within Alachua County, Florida,

Appellants,

VS.

DWIGHT ADAMS, individually, as a citizen and taxpayer of Alachua County, Florida,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF
APPELLANTS ALACHUA COUNTY, FLORIDA
AND THE CITY OF GAINESVILLE

On Appeal from the First District Court of Appeal Case No. 96-00257

ROBERT L. NABORS
Florida Bar No. 097421
VIRGINIA SAUNDERS DELEGAL
Florida Bar No. 989932
HARRY F. CHILES
Florida Bar No. 0306940
Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A.
315 South Calhoun Street, Suite 800

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case is an appeal from the First District Court of Appeal which declared Chapter 94-487, Laws of Florida, a state statute of the Florida Legislature, unconstitutional on July 25, 1996. (App. 1). This Court has mandatory jurisdiction under Article V, section 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution.

The Appellants in this case are Alachua County, Florida (the "County") and the City of Gainesville (the "City"). The County is a political subdivision of the State of Florida which operates under a home rule charter approved by its electors pursuant to the provisions of Article VIII, section 1(g), Florida Constitution. The City is an incorporated municipality within Alachua County, Florida, established under Article VIII, section 2(a), Florida Constitution. The County and the City² jointly sued the Appellee, Dwight Adams, as both a citizen and a taxpayer of Alachua County, Florida, pursuant to Chapter 86, Florida Statutes, seeking a declaration of their rights and responsibilities under Chapter 94-487, Laws of Florida. (App. 6).

Chapter 94-487, Laws of Florida, is a special act expanding the uses to which the County may put the infrastructure surtax (the "Surtax") authorized by section 212.055(2), Florida Statutes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Instead of citing to a record on appeal, all factual references will be made to the Appendix to Appellants' Initial Brief, pursuant to this Court's order, dated September 6, 1996.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Unless the context clearly requires otherwise, the County and the City will be jointly referred to as "the County."

(App. 4). Specifically, the declaratory action was filed to interpret the following language from the two statutory provisions:

The proceeds of the surtax authorized by this subsection and any interest accrued thereto shall be expended . . . to finance, plan and construct infrastructure and to acquire land for public recreation . . . <u>Neither the proceeds nor any interest accrued thereto shall be used for operational expenses</u> of any infrastructure . . .

§ 212.055(2)(d)1, Fla. Stat. (emphasis added) (App. 5). On the other hand, the Florida Legislature subsequently adopted a special act, stating:

In addition to the uses authorized by s. 212.055(2), Florida Statutes, the board of county commissioners of Alachua County and the municipalities of Alachua County may use local government infrastructure surtax revenues for operation and maintenance of parks and recreation programs and facilities established with the proceeds of the surtax.

Ch. 94-487, § I, Laws of Fla. (emphasis added).

Following the Florida Legislature's enactment of Chapter 94-487, Laws of Florida, the County, the City, and other municipalities within Alachua County entered into an interlocal agreement, specifying that the Surtax proceeds would be used to establish, operate, and maintain a countywide recreation program. (App. 6, paras. 1, 13). In addition to negotiating this interlocal agreement, the County, as required by sections 212.055(2)(a) and (b), Florida Statutes, intended to hold a referendum vote on the question of whether to adopt the Surtax with the expanded uses as authorized in Chapter 94-487. (App. 6, paras. 15, 16). However, because of expressions of doubt as to the legality of their

intended course of action and threats of legal action by the Appellee to halt the election, the County sought judicial guidance on the relationship between the Surtax general law and the special act before proceeding with the countywide recreation and parks programs and before expending public funds to put the issue to a vote of the electors.

The Appellee timely answered the complaint, admitting most of the factual allegations and challenging only the legality of the special act and the County's intended course of action under it. (App. 7). On the same day, the Appellee also moved for judgment on the pleadings. (App. 8). In his motion and supporting memorandum of law, the Appellee argued that the special act violated the Florida Constitution for a variety of reasons, including that it violated Article VII, section 1(a), Florida Constitution requiring all forms of taxation, other than ad valorem taxes, to be provided or authorized by general law only; and that it ran afoul of Article III, section 11(a)(2), Florida Constitution, prohibiting a special law on the assessment or collection of taxes for a state or county purpose. (Apps. 8, 11).

The County, with the Appellee's consent, moved to expedite the proceedings, advising the circuit court that the issues were purely legal and could be addressed without extensive factual development. Before agreeing to this consented request, the circuit court asked that the parties address the issue of its subject matter jurisdiction. Both parties complied by filing separate jurisdictional memoranda and that issue, together with the

consented motion to expedite, were set for hearing. The circuit court announced at the hearing that, based upon the written memoranda provided by the parties, it was satisfied that it had the jurisdictional authority to proceed. The circuit court then asked for argument on the merits of the special act, which were given, with the specific caveat that the County be authorized to then file its own legal memorandum supporting its arguments that the special act was but a lawful expansion of the authority to levy the Surtax form of sales tax provided by the general law provision of section 212.055(2), Florida Statutes.

The County then filed **a** motion for judgment on the **pleadings**, together with a memorandum both supporting that motion **and** responding to the Appellee's earlier motion. (Apps. 9, 10). The Appellee then filed a reply to the County's motion and on December 19, 1995, the circuit court entered its Final Declaratory Judgment for the Appellee. (App. 3).

The County appealed to the First District Court of Appeal, which affirmed the circuit court's decision declaring Chapter 94-487, Laws of Florida, unconstitutional. (App. 1). This appeal followed, (App. 2).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Because of the constitutional separation of powers, Chapter 94-487, Laws of Florida, as a special act duly enacted by the Florida Legislature, comes before this Court clothed with the presumption of validity. In construing such an act, the Court must assume that the Legislature intended to enact an effective law, and any doubts must be resolved in favor of its constitutionality. The Appellee has the burden, as challenger of the act, to overcome this strong presumption of validity and to show a clear violation of the constitution. The Appellee cannot meet this burden for several reasons.

contrary to the First District Court of Appeal's conclusion that the expanded uses provided in Chapter 94-487, Laws section 1(a), Article VII, Florida, violate Constitution, that constitutional provision, by its express language, relates only to the "forms of taxation." 212.054 and 212.055, Florida Statutes, prescribe this Surtax "form" of a sales tax; the special act relates only to the purposes for which its revenues may be spent. As such, Chapter 94-487, Laws of Florida, need not have been enacted pursuant to general law as the provision of a "form" of taxation. Thus, it does not run afoul of Article VII, section l(a), Florida Constitution.

In addition, the special act does not violate Article III, section 11(a)(2), Florida Constitution. The **case** law construing that provision, which prohibits special acts relating to the "assessment or collection of taxes for state or county purposes,"

uniformly indicates that it prohibits only those local enactments bearing on the "mechanics" or the "manner or method" of collecting taxes. Again, sections 212.054 and 212.055, Florida Statutes, the general law provisions authorizing and detailing the Surtax and its assessment and collection procedures, supply the "mechanics" of the Surtax. In contrast, Chapter 94-487, Laws of Florida, merely expands the purposes for which the Surtax proceeds can be spent.

Finally, even if the special act conflicts with the general law authorization to levy the Surtax, the case law is clear that the later-enacted special act must prevail. Moreover, Florida's Constitution, in Article III, section 11(a)(21), provides a clear mechanism for the Legislature to address and prohibit such conflicts and they have done so a number of times in the past. However, the Legislature has not exercised its prerogative to prohibit special legislation expanding the uses of this Surtax proceeds. Absent such a prohibition, a special act has the same legislative dignity, and is entitled to the same presumption of validity, as a general law.

#### ARGUMENT

I. UNDER THE PRINCIPLES OF SEPARATION OF POWERS, CHAPTER 94-487, LAWS OF FLORIDA, IS PRESUMED TO BE CONSTITUTIONAL.

The special act, Chapter 94-487, Laws of Florida, just as any other exercise of the Florida Legislature's power, is presumed to be valid and constitutional. All legislative actions are presumed lawful and the burden is on the challenger to show a clear violation of the constitution before an act of the Legislature will be declared unconstitutional. Peoples Bank of Indian River County v. State Dept. of Banking and Finance, 395 So. 2d 521, 524 (Fla. 1981) ("A statute is presumed constitutional\* . . . . The party challenging a statute has the burden of establishing its invalidity.") (cits. omitted).

The courts in Florida assume -- because of the judicial restraint concepts inherent in the separation of powers -- that the Legislature intends to enact effective laws. Accordingly, all doubts must be resolved in favor of constitutionality and no legislative act may be declared unconstitutional "unless it is determined to be invalid beyond a reasonable doubt."

A.B.A.

Industries, Inc. v. City of Pinellas Park, 366 So. 2d 761, 763 (Fla. 1979). For example, this Court, recognizing such judicial restraint has stated:

It is no small matter for one branch of the government to annul the formal exercise by another of power committed to the latter. The courts should not and must not annul, as contrary to the Constitution, a statute passed by the Legislature, unless it can be said of

the statute that it positively and certainly is opposed to the Constitution. This is elementary.

Greater Loretta Improvement Assoc. v. State ex rel. Boone, 234 So. 2d 665, 670 (Fla. 1970). The fact that the legislative act in question here relates to taxation in no way lessens this burden upon the challenger. See Metropolitan Dade County v. Golden Nugget Group, 448 So. 2d 515 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), decision approved, 464 2d 535 (Fla. 1985) (court applied this standard and upheld sales tax under Chapter 212, Florida Statutes, against attacks that the legislation was an unconstitutional special act or a general law of local application). Furthermore, the fact that legislation at issue in this case involves a special act does not lessen the presumption of constitutionality. See County of Hillsborough v. Price, 149 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 2d DCA 1963); see also Wright v. Board of Public Instruction of Sumter County, 48 So. 2d 912, 914 (Fla. 1950) (special "[a]cts of the Legislature under attack come to this Court with a presumption in favor of their constitutionality, . ..").

The First District Court of Appeal ignored this constitutional concept. The court's failure to presume that Chapter 94-487, Laws of Florida, was constitutional is best exemplified by its reliance on City of Tampa v. Birdsonq Motors, Inc., 261 so. 2d 1 (Fla. 1972), and State v. City of Port Orange, 650 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1994.). These cases articulate the principle that the authority for a county or municipality to tax must be expressly provided by the Florida Legislature in a general law. The First District Court,

however, analyzed the legislative expansion of the use of Surtax proceeds as if it occurred in a County home rule ordinance. The Court stated:

The same cannot be said in the present case -- Alachua County is attempting under the subject special act, to use the tax revenues at issue for an ultimate purpose (maintaining infrastructure) not authorized, and indeed, prohibited by, the subject general law.

Alachua County v. Adams, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1690, D1690-91 (Fla. 1st DCA July 25, 1996) (emphasis added). The expanded uses of the Surtax proceeds were authorized by the Florida Legislature, not the County, the City, or any other municipality within Alachua County. The legislative vehicle is a special act, not a county or municipal ordinance. Clearly, then, no legislative action by the County, the City or any municipality within Alachua County is at issue here.

While the First District Court correctly stated the principle that local governments need statutory authority to tax, it incorrectly applied this principle to the constitutional issue here. Because no home rule ordinance is involved in this case, the decision in State v. City of Port Orange, 650 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1994), adds nothing to, and actually detracts from, the appropriate analysis here. In the State v. City of Port Orange case, this Court considered the validity of a municipal charge imposed against property to pay for the cost of roads. No express statutory authority existed for the charge and this Court held that the municipality's home rule power did not include the authority to impose such a charge. The Court resolved all doubts concerning the municipality's power to impose the charge against the municipality

and in favor of the taxpayer on the basis that no express statutory authorization existed for the imposition.

In contrast, the charge at issue here, the Surtax on sales, clearly has a general law authorization: section 212.055(2), Florida Statutes. Thus, unlike State v. City of Port Orange, the inquiry here is not whether the County has the authority to levy the Surtax; section 212.055(2) expressly provides that authority. That section states, "the governing authority in each county may levy a discretionary sales surtax of 0.5 percent or 1 percent." § 212.055(2) (a)1,Fla. Stat. Rather, the inquiry here is whether the Florida Legislature is constitutionally limited so that any expansion of the uses of a "form" of tax, previously authorized by general law, cannot legislatively be made by special act.

The Florida Legislature obviously believes it possesses these legislative powers; it adopted Chapter 94-487, Laws of Florida, as a special act.<sup>3</sup> The Legislature's decision to exercise its power in such a manner is entitled to judicial deference under constitutionally mandated separation of powers unless the legislation is "positively and certainly . . . opposed to the Constitution." Greater Loretta Improvement Assoc., 234 So. 2d at 670.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Legislature also adopted, during the same legislative session, Chapter 94-459, Laws of Florida, a special act, which allows Clay County to use surtax proceeds to retire bonded indebtedness issued prior to July 1, 1997, a use otherwise limited to other counties by section 212.055(2), Florida Statutes.

- II. THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION DOES NOT LIMIT THE POWER OF THE LEGISLATURE TO EXPAND OR CHANGE THE USES, BY SPECIAL ACT, OF A TAX PREVIOUSLY AUTHORIZED BY GENERAL LAW.
  - A. Article VII, Section 1(a), Florida Constitution, Does Not Require The Use of Tax Proceeds, The Subject Matter Of Chapter 94-487, To Be Contained In A General Law.

The Florida Constitution requires that all "forms" of taxation other than ad valorem property taxes -- be authorized by a general law. Specifically, Article VII, section l(a) of the Florida Constitution, proclaims:

No tax shall be levied except in pursuance of law. No state ad valorem taxes shall be levied upon real estate or tangible personal property. All other forms of taxation shall be preempted to the state except as provided by general law.

Id. (emphasis added).

Here, the First District Court of Appeal struck Chapter 94-487, Laws of Florida, as violating this constitutional provision. While the First District Court necessarily concluded that a "form" of tax relates to all aspects of taxation, including authorized uses, and that any argument to the contrary is mere "semantics," the Court's opinion does not discuss or analyze the constitutional phrase "forms of taxation." Instead, the First District Court relies solely on this Court's holding in City of Tampa v. Birdsong Motors, Inc., 261 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1972), that taxation by a city or county must be authorized by the Legislature. The First District Court stated, "When a taxing statute specifies the ultimate use of

revenues raised thereunder, any change in that ultimate use must surely be considered a change in the tax itself." Alachua County, 21 Fla. L. Weekly at D1691.

This conclusion misses the constitutional question here. The issue in this case is whether an expansion of the use of tax proceeds is such an integral part of the "form" of the Surtax that the Legislature is constitutionally limited to acting solely through general legislation (and that the vehicle of **a** special act is thus constitutionally unavailable).

The First District Court dismissed the County's analysis as to the framework of the Florida Constitution and the meaning of the phrase "form of taxation" in Article VII, section 1(a), Florida Constitution, as "largely semantic." 21 Fla. L. Weekly at D1691. This dismissal of traditional constitutional principles led to the First District Court's flawed analysis. The plain meaning of any constitutional phrase is the keystone to its interpretation; in any constitutional analysis, the semantics, or the language use, creates the constitutional design.

 The plain meaning of Article VII, section 1(a) does not prohibit a special act which merely expands authorized uses of tax proceeds.

According to this Court, the analysis of a constitutional provision begins, and often ends, with its language. "If the language is clear and not entirely unreasonable or illogical in its operation we have no power to go outside the bounds of the

constitutional provision in search of excuses to give a different meaning to the words used therein." City of St. Petersburg v. Brilev, Wild & Associates, Inc., 239 So. 2d 817, 822 (Fla. 1970). Article VII, section 1(a), Florida Constitution, states in pertinent part, that "[n]o state ad valorem taxes shall be levied upon real estate or tangible personal property. All other forms of taxation shall be preempted to the state except as provided by law."

The plain meaning of this constitutional provision is clear, The "form" of a tax refers to the type of tax: ad valorem property taxes versus other types of taxes. For example, tourist development taxes, documentary stamp taxes, corporate income taxes and sales taxes are other "forms of taxation" under the plain meaning of the phrase. <u>See, e.q.</u>, <u>State v. Sarasota Countv</u>, 549 so. 2d 659, 660 (Fla. 1989) (a gas tax is a form of tax which must be authorized by general law); and City of Tampa v. Carolina Freight Carriers Corp., 529 So, 2d 324, 326 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) (an occupational license tax on motor carriers is a form of tax preempted to the state by general law, under the authority of Article VII, section 1(a), Florida Statutes). This interpretation is supported by the commentary to this provision. The commentary on Article VII, section l(a), by the official reporter of the Constitution Revision Commission, noted:

section l(a) establish[es]... a general rule which pre-empts all forms of taxation other than ad valorem taxes on real estate and tangible personal property to the state except where otherwise [provided] by general law...

26 Fla. Stat. Ann. 359 (1995) (Commentary by Talbot "Sandy" D'Alemberte) (emphasis added).

Clearly, the Surtax at issue here is not an ad valorem tax; thus, under the plain meaning of the language in Article VII, section 1 (a), Florida Constitution, authorization to levy the Surtax cannot be accomplished by special act. Only a general law supplies sufficient authority for the County to levy this tax.\* Such general law authority exists in this case. Section 212.055(2), Florida Statutes, clearly states, "The governing authority in each county may levy a discretionary sales surtax of 0.5 percent or 1 percent." In acknowledgment of this authorization, Chapter 94-487, Laws of Florida, declares:

Section 1. In addition to the uses authorized by s. 212.055(2), Florida Statutes, . . . Alachua County may use local government infrastructure surtax revenues for operation and maintenance of parks and recreation programs and facilities established with the proceeds of the surtax.

Section 2. In addition to the uses authorized by s. 212.055(2), Florida Statutes, . . . Alachua County may establish one or more trust funds using local government infrastructure surtax revenues to provide a permanent endowment for operation and maintenance of parks and recreation programs and facilities established with the proceeds of the surtax in accordance with section 1.

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