## **ORIGINAL**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 4 1996

CLERK, SUPPLEM COURT By

ALACHUA COUNTY FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida, and the CITY OF GAINESVILLE, an incorporated municipality within Alachua County, Florida,

APPELLANTS,

CASE NO. 88, 844

vs.

DWIGHT ADAMS, individually as a citizen and taxpayer of Alachua County, Florida.

APPELLEE.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE ADAMS

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida Case No. 96-00257

Joseph W. Little
Attorney for APPELLEE
Florida Bar # 196749
3731 N.W. 13th Place
Gainesville, FL 32605
352-392-2211

####

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

Appellee Adams (hereinafter referred to as ADAMS) accepts the statement of case presented in Appellants' Initial Brief. (Appellants are hereinafter referred to as COUNTY).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Question presented: When a general law authorizes local governments to levy a non-ad valorem tax (specifically the Local Government Infrastructure Surtax, §212.055(2) Fla. Stat.) only for explicitly prescribed uses (i.e., capital infrastructure) and with an explicit prohibition against other uses (i.e., maintenance and operation of facilities), may a special law be enacted to permit one and only one county (i.e., Alachua County) to levy the tax and use the revenues for the explicit use (i.e., maintenance and operation of facilities) that the general law prohibits?

This is an appeal from the affirmance of a final judgment holding the special law in question (Ch. 94-487) to be unconstitutional under Article VII §1(a) and Article VII §9(a) Florida Constitution. ADAMS respectively submits that the decision appealed from in Alachua County, Florida et al. v. Adams, 677 So.2d 396 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) must be affirmed.

Although the Legislature possesses very broad powers to enact statutes by either general or special law, the Florida Constitution imposes specific restraints on its power to enact tax statutes. Article VII §1(a) Florida Constitution imposes two important limitations. First, it prohibits the imposition of ad valorem taxes on real estate and tangible personal property for state uses.

These taxes are reserved for the exclusive use of local governments as particularized in Article VII §9(a) Florida Constitution. Second, Article VII §1(a) preempts "all other forms of taxation" to the state "except as provided by general law." (Underlining supplied.) Because Ch. 94-487 involved herein is a special law pertaining only to Alachua County and purports to amend §212.055(2) Fla. Stat. to enlarge the power to levy a non-ad valorem tax (i.e., a sales surtax) only in Alachua County and nowhere else, it necessarily follows that it is unconstitutional and void under Article VII §1(a) Florida Constitution.

94-487 also violates Article VII §9(a) Florida Ch. Constitution, which permits the Legislature to authorize counties to levy ad valorem taxes or real estate and tangible personal property "by law," including special laws, but which restricts the Legislature's power to authorize counties to levy "other taxes" (i.e., non-ad valorem taxes) to the enactment of "general laws." In this regard, Article VII §1(a) and Article VII §9(a) are perfectly complementary; both restrict the Legislature's power to the enactment of general laws to authorize counties (and other entities) to levy non-ad valorem taxes, such as the Local Government Infrastructure surtax involved herein. Because Ch. 94-487 is a special law, it fails to comply with the constitutional standard and is void.

In it initial brief, COUNTY has made a series of specious arguments in an unsuccessful attempt to characterize Ch. 94-487 to be something other than what it plainly is. This brief refutes

each of these futile attempts in detail. The purpose and intended effect of Ch. 94-487 show on the face of the statute. They are to amend §212.055(2) Fla. Stat. to change the conditions under which the tax may be levied in Alachua County and nowhere else. Hence, as demonstrated above, because Ch. 94-487 is a special law, it is unconstitutional and void.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from an affirmance of a Final Declaratory Judgment holding: "Chapter 94-487, Laws of Florida, unconstitutional special law that purports to authorize Alachua County to levy a sales surtax that has not been authorized by general laws." (The District Court's opinion is included as Tab 1 to the Appendix to COUNTY's initial brief.) COUNTY seeks to reverse the judgment of unconstitutionality based upon its argument that a detailed general law taxing statute (LOCAL GOVERNMENT INFRASTRUCTURE SURTAX, § 212.055(2) Fla. Stat.), may be amended or somehow augmented by a special law (Ch. 94-487). (Ch. 94-487 and §212.055(2) Fla. Stat. are attached as Tabs 4 and 5 to the Appendix to COUNTY's initial brief). More particularly, COUNTY asserts that a special law may authorize it to levy the Local Government Infrastructure Surtax (hereinafter referred as SURTAX) for purposes not authorized by and explicitly prohibited by the general law.

ADAMS respectfully submits that because Ch. 94-487 is a special law that purports to authorize COUNTY to levy a non-ad valorem tax not authorized in any other county and because Article

VII §1(a) and Article VII §9(a) Florida Constitution mandate that all county taxes (except ad valorem taxes) must be authorized by general law, Ch. 94-487 is unconstitutional and the judgment appealed from must be affirmed.

Although COUNTY's initial brief attempts to characterize this dispute as a conflict between a general law (§ 212.055(2) Fla. Stat.) and a special law (Ch. 94-487 Laws of Florida), this is a false characterization. The conflict here is between the Florida Constitution, specifically Article VII § 1(a) and Article VII § 9(a), and a special law (Ch. 94-487). When such a conflict arises, even the powers of the Legislature must yield to the supervening restrictions of the Constitution.

The constitutional provisions and laws that create the conflict are: Article VII §1(a) and Article VII §9(a) Florida Constitution; § 212.055(2) Fla. Stat.; and Ch. 94-487 Laws of Florida. These are set forth, in relevant part, as follows:

#### (A) Article VII §1(a) Florida\_Constitution

(a) No tax shall be levied except in pursuance of law. No state ad valorem taxes shall be levied upon real estate or tangible personal property. All other forms of taxation shall be preempted to the state except as provided by general law. (Underlining supplied.)

#### (B) Article VII §9(a) Florida Constitution

- (C) § 212.055 Discretionary sales surtaxes; legislative intent; authorization and use of proceeds.
  - (2) Local Government Infrastructure Surtax -

- (d) 1. The proceeds of the surtax authorized by this subsection ... shall be expended ... to finance, plan, and construct infrastructure . . . . Neither the proceeds not any interest accrued thereto shall be used for operational expenses of any infrastructure . . . .
- 2. For purposes of this paragraph,
  "infrastructure" means:
- a. Any fixed <u>capital expenditure</u> or fixed capital outlay associated with the construction, reconstruction or improvement of public facilities which have a life expectancy of 5 years or more and any land acquisition, land improvement, design, and engineering costs related thereto. (Underlining supplied.)

#### (D). Chapter 94-487 Laws of Florida

An act relating to Alachua County; authorizing the board of county commissioners of Alachua County and each of the governing boards of the municipalities within the county to use the proceeds of the local government infrastructure surtax for the operation and maintenance of parks and recreation programs and facilities established with the proceeds of the surtax; authorizing establishment of trust funds; providing an effective date.

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida:

Section 1. In addition to the uses authorized by s. 212.055(2), Florida Statutes, the board of county commissioners of Alachua County and the municipalities of Alachua County may use local government infrastructure surtax revenues for operation and maintenance of parks and recreation programs and facilities established with the proceeds of the surtax.

Section 2. In addition to the uses authorized by s. 212.055(2), Florida Statutes, the board of county commissioners of Alachua County and the municipalities of Alachua County may establish one or more trust funds using local government infrastructure surtax revenues to provide a permanent endowment for operation and maintenance of parks and recreation programs and facilities established with the proceeds of the surtax in accordance with section 1.

(Underlining supplied.)

A comparison of (C) and (D) above shows that Chapter 94-487, which is a special act relating only to Alachua County, purports to amend § 212.055 Fla. Stat., a general taxing statute, to authorize Alachua County, and only Alachua County, to levy the SURTAX for uses that are not only not permitted to any other county but are also positively prohibited to all counties. Given the unambiguous restrictions imposed by Article VII §1(a) and Article VII §9(a) Florida Constitution upon the Legislature's power to authorize counties to impose taxes, Ch. 94-487 is facially unconstitutional.

Although ADAMS respectively submits that the foregoing completely sustains the decision below, he refutes COUNTY's detailed arguments in the remainder of this brief.

II. COUNTY'S ATTEMPT TO RELY UPON THE PRESUMPTION OF CONSTITUTIONALITY DOES NOT SAVE CH. 94-487 FROM UNCONSTITUTIONALITY IN FACT.

In part I of its brief, COUNTY attempts to save Ch. 94-487 by relying on the "presumption of constitutionality" that courts apply to all statutes. This is a specious argument. Although statutes are presumed to be constitutional, this Court has consistently held, at least since the date <u>Flint River Steam Boat Co. v. Roberts</u>, 2 Fla. 102 (Fla. 1848) was decided, that statutes that are "contrary to the spirit of fundamental law" [i.e., the Constitution] are unconstitutional and void. As this Court stated in <u>State v. Pearson</u>, 14 So.2d 565, 567 (Fla. 1943):

It is a familiarly accepted doctrine of constitutional law that the power of the Legislature is inherent, though it may be, and frequently is, limited by the Constitution. The legislative branch looks to the

Constitution not for sources of power but for limitations upon power. But if such limitations are not found to exist, its discretion reasonably exercised may not be disturbed by the judicial branch of the government. And unless legislation be clearly contrary to some express or necessarily implied prohibition found in the Constitution, the courts are without authority to declare legislative acts invalid; as the Legislature may exercise any lawmaking power that is not forbidden by the fundamental law.

ADAMS readily concedes the validity of these propositions and the existence of the presumption of constitutionality. What COUNTY's argument ignores is the remainder of the message: i.e., if a statute is in conflict with the constitution, the statute is void. What COUNTY's argument also fails to acknowledge is that the courts below found that the presumption of constitutionality had been rebutted by the plain constitutional restrictions found in Article VII § 1(a) and Article VII § 9(a) Florida Constitution. Hence, Ch. 94-487 initially came into court with the presumption of constitutionality, but the presumption has been soundly rebutted.

COUNTY also fails to acknowledge that the decisions of the courts below come into this Court with a presumption of correctness. As this Court stated in <u>Videon v. Hodge</u>, 72 So.2d 396, 397 (Fla. 1954): "Every decree or order appealed to this Court comes here with the presumption of correctness and we have said on many occasions that the appellant has the burden of showing that error was committed."

In short, both the circuit court and the District Court tested the presumption of constitutionality and found it to be rebutted. Hence, four seasoned judges have now examined Ch. 94-487 critically and found it to be unconstitutional. Because the decree

of the District Court arrives in this Court with a presumption of correctness, the burden falls to COUNTY to demonstrate that error has been made. ADAMS respectfully submits that COUNTY has not and cannot make that showing. Accordingly, the decision appealed from must be affirmed.

#### III. CH. 94-487 IS FACIALLY UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

County's "plain meaning" argument (Initial Brief, Part II.A.1., pp. 11-16) is without merit. Two principles of constitutional construction and two provisions of the Florida Constitution control the decision in this case, condemn Ch. 94-487 Laws of Florida, and require the affirmance of the decision below.

First, the constitution of State of Florida constitutes a limitation on the powers of government, particularly of the Legislature, and is not a grant of power. See, e.g., State v. Dickinson, 188 So.2d 781 (Fla. 1966).

Second, a constitutional prescription of how a specific power may be exercised serves to prohibit the exercise of the power in any other manner. <u>S&J Transportation</u>, <u>Inc.</u> v. <u>Gordon</u>, 176 So.2d 69, 71 (Fla. 1965) ("Where one method or means of exercising a power is prescribed in a constitution it excludes its exercise in other ways.") This rule is rigorously applied to taxation statutes. See, e.g., <u>Palethorpe</u> v. <u>Thompson</u>, 171 So.2d 526, 529 (Fla. 1965) (Where the constitution prescribes that the Legislature may grant tax exemptions as to certain classes of property, the effect is to exclude the power to exempt any other classes; hence, a statute exempting other classes is unconstitutional), and <u>Archer</u>

v. <u>Marshall</u> 355 So.2d 781, 783 (Fla. 1978) (applying the same rule.)

These tenets of constitution must be applied to Ch. 94-487 in light of two power limiting provisions of the 1968 Florida Constitution that were adopted by the people of Florida for the direct purpose of restricting the means by which the Legislature might authorize entities of local government to impose taxes:

#### Article VII § 1(a):

No tax shall be levied except in pursuance of law. No state ad valorem taxes shall be levied upon real estate or tangible personal property. All other forms of taxation shall be preempted to the state except as provided by general law.

#### Article VII § 9(a):

Counties, school districts, and municipalities shall ... be authorized by law to levy ad valorem taxes and may be authorized by general law to levy other taxes, for their respective purposes...

(Underlining supplied.)

Although the meaning of these constitutional provisions is evident from a "plain meaning" reading of them, the decisions of this Court can leave no doubt as to their effect on Legislative power. Article VII §1(a) and VII § 9(a) collectively deny the use of the ad valorem taxes on real estate and tangible personal property as a source of revenue to fund the operations of state government, and reserve that particular form of taxation (i.e., ad valorem taxes on real estate and tangible personal property) exclusively to fund the operations of local governments, as the Legislature authorizes by law including special law.

Article VII § 1(a) reserves all other forms of taxation -

meaning, other than ad valorem taxes on real estate and tangible personal property - to the state except as authorized by general law. City of Tampa v. Birdsong Motors, 261 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1972). The power to tax must be expressly authorized and all doubts as to the existence of the power must be resolved against its existence. State v. City of Port Orange, 650 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1994). This means that any tax of any form whatsoever, if it is not an ad valorem tax on real estate or tangible personal property, must be authorized by general law.

Article VII § 9(a) permits the Legislature to authorize local governments to levy ad valorem taxes on real property and tangible personal property by law, which includes special law, but restricts the Legislature's power to authorize local governments to levy other taxes to enactments by general law. See, Florida Department of Education v. Glasser, 622 So.2d 944 (Fla. 1993). The general law "other taxes" limitation in Article VII § 9(a) Florida Constitution is not modified by any qualifier whatever.

Reading Articles VII § 1(a) and Article VII § 9(a) together in this way plainly discloses important policies premises that have been concretely embodied in the taxation article of the 1968 Florida Constitution:

- No tax may be levied unless the Legislature has authorized it by law.
- 2. The Legislature has been deprived of the power to levy ad valorem taxes on real estate or tangible personal property to raise revenue to fund the operations of state

government.

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